IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BETTY LOCKHART

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-01705

RICHARD COLLINS, ET AL

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MONROE COUNTY MISSISSIPPI

APPEAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT BETTY LOCKHART

CARTER DOBBS, JR.
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO
103 2ND AVENUE NORTH
POST OFFICE BOX 517
AMORY, MISSISSIPPI 38821

TEL: (662) 256-5697 FAX: (662) 256-1483

E-MAIL: carterdobbslaw@gmail.com

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BETTY LOCKHART

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-01705

RICHARD COLLINS, ET AL

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

VII.	APPENDIX	

TABLE OF CASES, STATUTES AND LAWS

	<u>PAGE</u>		
CASES			
Aikerson v. State, 274 So.2d 124, 128 (Miss. 1973)	10		
Autrey v. Parson, 864 So. 2d 294, 295 (¶4) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)	1		
Bailey v. Montgomery Ward & Co., 76 So.2d 813, 816 (Miss. 1955)	10		
Bellew v. Dedeaux, 126 So.2d 249, 2551 (Miss. 1961)	10		
Giles v. Friendly Finance Company of Biloxi, 185 So.2d 659, 662, (Miss. 1966)	10		
Harrison v. State, 800 So. 2d 1134, 1137 (Miss. 2001)	. 8		
Trigg v. Trigg, 498 So.2d 334 (Miss. 1986)			
<u>STATUTES</u>			
Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended			
§11-21-1			
§11-21-3			
GENERAL LAWS OF MISSISSIPPI			
2009 General Laws of Mississippi, Chapter 517	9, 10		

I. APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE1:

THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT § 11-21-1, MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972, AS AMENDED, APPLIES TO THIS CASE AND PREVENTS PARTITION, WHEN THE PARTITION PROCEEDING IS NOT BETWEEN SPOUSES, BUT RATHER WHEN TWO DEFENDANT SPOUSES, OPPOSED TO THE PLAINTIFF IN THE PARTITION PROCEEDING, ARE THE OWNERS OF A FRACTIONAL INTEREST IN THE LAND SOUGHT TO BE PARTITED.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review by this Court in this cause is *de novo*, because the appeal involves an interpretation of a statute, and is, therefore, a question of law. *Autrey v. Parson*, 864 So. 2d 294, 295 (¶4) (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

III. APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(A) NATURE OF THE CASE.

This appeal involves one single issue, and that issue is where there is a partition of land case filed pursuant to § 11-21-3, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, whether partition is prohibited when the partition proceeding is not *between* spouses, but rather when two Defendant spouses, opposed to the Plaintiff in the partition proceeding, are the owners of a fractional life estate interest in the land sought to be partited.

(B) COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW.

Plaintiff/ Appellant in this cause will be referred to as "Lockhart." Defendants/
Appellants will be referred to as "Collins/Hamilton." Appellant Betty Lockhart filed a
Complaint To Partition Land in Monroe County Chancery Court against Appellees Richard
Collins and wife, Peggy Collins, and Bolin Hamilton and wife, Orene Hamilton, alleging that she
was the owner of an undivided one-fourth (1/4) life estate interest in 160 acres of land in Monroe
County, that Appellees Bolin and Orene Hamilton were the owners of the other undivided threefourth's (3/4) life estate interest and that Appellees Richard and Peggy Collins were the owners
of the remainder interest in said land. Appellees Collins/Hamilton filed their Answer and
Defenses, denying that Lockhart had any interest in the property, alleging that she had
abandoned any homestead interest and denying that she had standing to bring a partition
proceeding. Collins/Hamilton filed a Motion To Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint And Motion For
Summary Judgment On Defendant's Counterclaim With Supporting Authority.

The case was tried, and on July 6, 2010 the trial Court entered a Memorandum Opinion and Order Partially Granting Motion To Dismiss Plaintiff's Complaint And Motion For Summary Judgment On Defendants' Counterclaim.

Lockhart filed a Motion To Alter Or Amend Judgment And Motion For Findings Of Fact
And Conclusions Of Law, and on September 15, 2010 the Court entered an Order Addressing
Post-Trial Motions.

The Court determined that Lockhart was the owner of an undivided one-fourth (1/4) life estate interest; that Appellees Bolin Hamilton and wife, Orene Hamilton, were the owners of the other three-fourth's (3/4) undivided life estate interest; and that Appellees Richard Collins and wife, Peggy Collins, were the owners of the remainder interest in said property. This finding by the trial Court was based upon the stipulation of the parties at trial and upon the terms of an Agreed Order in this case dated September 5, 2009.

The trial Judge ruled, pursuant to the provisions of §11-21-3, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, that Lockhart had standing to invoke the statutory right to partition. However, the Court then on to rule that Lockhart is barred from partition because Appellees Bolin and Orene Hamilton continued to maintain the property as their homestead, citing as authority § 11-21-1, Mississippi Code of 1972, which provides for partition of property by agreement of the coowners, specifically basing her ruling on the 2009 amendment to this statute, which provides:

(2) Homestead property exempted from execution that is owned by spouses shall be subject to partition pursuant to the provisions of this section only, and not otherwise.

The Court held that since Appellees Bolin and Orene Hamilton were spouses, the property could be partited only "by agreement, which shall be evidenced by writing, signed by the parties...." Appellees Bolin and Orene Hamilton had not agreed in writing, but in fact had by their Answer in this case objected to the partition.

It is from this Memorandum Opinion And Order and Order Addressing Post-Trial Motions that Lockhart has filed her appeal to this Court.

- (C) STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.
- (1) This case involves 160 acres of land in Monroe County, Mississippi. W. E. Lockhart and Bolin Hamilton acquired this property as tenants in common by Warranty Deed dated September 3, 1947. (R. 62; R. E. 8)
- (2) The Last Will and Testament of W. E. Lockhart was probated in 1990. This Will devised W. E. Lockhart's undivided one-half (1/2) interest, in equal shares, to his children, J. C. Lockhart, who was the husband of Appellant Betty Lockhart, and to Orene Hamilton. (R. 62; R. E. 8) The title of this property was then held as follows:

Bolin Hamilton undivided one-half (1/2) interest

Orene Hamilton undivided one-fourth (1/4) interest

J. C. Lockhart undivided one-fourth (1/4) interest

- (3) J. C. Lockhart, joined by his wife, Appellant Betty Lockhart, conveyed his interest to his son, Joel C. Lockhart, by Warranty Deed dated February 20, 1990, recorded as Instrument No. 20072186. This conveyance reserved therein a life estate in J. C. Lockhart and his wife, Appellant Betty Lockhart. (R. 62-63; R. E. 8-9)
- (4) Appellees Bolin Hamilton and Orene Hamilton conveyed their three-fourth's (3/4) interest in this property to Appellee Peggy Collins by a Quitclaim Deed With A Reservation Of Life Estate dated August 17, 2007. Bolin and Orene Hamilton reserved a life estate in their combined three-fourth's (3/4) interest in this property by the terms of this conveyance. (R. 60; R. E. 6)

(5) Joel C. Lockhart conveyed his undivided one-fourth (1/4) interest in said property to Appellees Richard G. Collins and wife, Peggy Collins, by a Quitclaim Deed dated May 13, 2008. (R. 60-61; R. E. 6-7) This conveyance states that the Deed is expressly subject to:

Whatever interest, if any, that is owned by Betty C. Lockhart as a result of the life estate provisions contained in that certain Deed recorded in the Monroe County, Mississippi land records as Instrument 20072186.

- (6) On May 13, 2008, Peggy Collins executed a Quitclaim Deed to the subject property to Richard G. Collins and wife, Peggy Collins, as "joint tenants with the entirety with right of survivorship and not as tenants in common," which conveyance was also expressly subject to the aforesaid life estate interest of Appellee Betty Lockhart. (R. 60-61; R. E. 6-7)
- (7) Appellant Betty Lockhart's husband, J. C. Lockhart, died before the partition suit was filed. (R. 61; R. E. 7)
- (8) The parties stipulated at trial, (R. 63; R. E. 9) the terms of an Agreed Order in this cause dated September 5, 2009 states, and the trial Court in its Opinion and Judgment determined that:
 - (A) Lockhart was the owner of an undivided one-fourth (1/4) life estate interest in the 160 acres of land in question; (R. 61, 64; R. E. 7, 10)
 - (B) Appellees Bolin Hamilton and wife, Orene Hamilton, were the owners of a three-fourth's (3/4) undivided life estate interest; and (R. 60; R. E. 6)
 - (C) Appellees Richard Collins and wife, Peggy Collins, were the owners of the remainder interest in said property.(R. 60-61; R. E. 6-7)

- (9) The trial Judge ruled, pursuant to the provisions of §11-21-3, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, that Lockhart had standing to invoke the statutory right to partition. (R. 69; R. E. 15) However, the Court then went on to rule that Lockhart is barred from partition (R. 70-71; R. E. 16-17) because Appellees Bolin and Orene Hamilton continued to maintain the property as their homestead, citing as authority § 11-21-1, Mississippi Code of 1972, which provides for partition of property by agreement of the co-owners, specifically basing her ruling on the 2009 amendment to this statute, which provides:
 - (2) Homestead property exempted from execution that is owned by spouses shall be subject to partition pursuant to the provisions of this section only, and not otherwise.
- (10) The Court held that since Appellees Bolin and Orene Hamilton were spouses, the property could be partited only "by agreement, which shall be evidenced by a writing, signed by the parties...." Appellees Bolin and Orene Hamilton had not agreed in writing, but in fact had by their Answer in this case objected to the partition.

IV. SUMMARY OF APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT § 11-21-1,
MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972, AS AMENDED, APPLIES TO THIS CASE
AND PREVENTS PARTITION, WHEN THE PARTITION PROCEEDING IS
NOT BETWEEN SPOUSES, BUT RATHER WHEN TWO DEFENDANT
SPOUSES, OPPOSED TO THE PLAINTIFF IN THE PARTITION
PROCEEDING, ARE THE OWNERS OF A FRACTIONAL INTEREST IN
THE LAND SOUGHT TO BE PARTITED.

The 2009 amendment to § 11-21-1, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, states that property "owned by spouses" shall be subject to partition only by written agreement. The statute is plain on its face, in that it only applies to a partition proceeding *between* spouses.

If in fact there is any ambiguity in the statute, the intent of this legislation is that, in a suit between a husband and wife, neither can force partition of homestead property, and that it does not prohibit partition when two Defendant spouses, opposed to the Plaintiff in the partition proceeding, are the owners of a fractional homestead interest in the land to be partited.

The honorable trial Judge was in error in ruling that if two of the Defendants in a partition suit were married, then this statute prohibits partition except by agreement.

V. APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT

ISSUE1:

THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT § 11-21-1, MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972, AS AMENDED, APPLIES TO THIS CASE AND PREVENTS PARTITION, WHEN THE PARTITION PROCEEDING IS NOT BETWEEN SPOUSES, BUT RATHER WHEN TWO DEFENDANT SPOUSES, OPPOSED TO THE PLAINTIFF IN THE PARTITION PROCEEDING, ARE THE OWNERS OF A FRACTIONAL INTEREST IN THE LAND SOUGHT TO BE PARTITED.

The statute that is in question in this case, § 11-21-1, Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, is as follows:

§ 11-21-1. Partition by agreement and by arbitration; partition of homestead property.

(1) Partition of land held by adult joint tenants, tenants in common, and coparceners, may be made agreement, which shall be evidenced by a writing, signed by the parties, and containing a description of the particular part allotted to each, and recorded

in the office of the clerk of the chancery court of the proper county or counties, and shall be binding and conclusive on the parties. They may also bind themselves by written agreement to submit the partition to the arbitrament of one or more persons to be chosen by them, and to abide the partition made by the arbitrators and the articles of submission; and the written award shall be recorded in the office of the clerk of the chancery court of the proper county or counties, and shall be final and conclusive between the parties, unless made or procured by fraud.

(2) Homestead property exempted from execution that is owned by spouses shall be subject to partition pursuant to the provisions of the section only, and not otherwise.

The trial Court ruled, in interpreting this statute in this case, that if two of the Defendants in a partition case were married and claimed a fractional interest in the property as their homestead, then the statute prohibits partition except by agreement. The honorable trial Judge was in error in this ruling. The meaning of the statute is plain on its face; that the prohibition of partition by agreement applies only when the litigation is *between* spouses. When a statute is plain on its face there is no room for statutory construction. *Harrison v. State*, 800 So. 2d 1134, 1137 (Miss. 2001).

If this honorable Court determines that there is ambiguity in the meaning of this partition statute, then it is still abundantly clear that the prohibition of partition applies only when the litigation is *between* spouses, and not when two of the Defendants in the litigation own a fractional homestead right and are also spouses.

Prior to the year 2009, the law in Mississippi was that in domestic relations litigation, one spouse could force the other from the marital home of the parties by filing and prosecuting a partition proceeding. *Trigg v. Trigg*, 498 So. 2d 334 (Miss. 1986). This case obviously opened the door to inequitable situations that a trial Court could have difficulty dealing with. The Supreme Court in *Trigg*, at page 336, stated:

The prospect of one spouse leaving the homestead and without termination of the marital relationship forcing the other who remains in the homestead to a partition sale is not without its capacity to disturb us.

In 2009, the legislature addressed the concerns raised by the Supreme Court in *Trigg*, and amended § 11-21-1, Mississippi Code of 1972, to provide that when "Homestead property exempt from execution that is owned by spouses shall be subject to partition...." the partition shall only be by written agreement, and not otherwise.

The plain and obvious intent of this statute is that when a husband and wife have a home, neither can force the other from the home by a partition proceeding in court. It is not the intention of this statute, as ruled by the trial Court in the case at bar, that when two of the Defendants in a partition proceeding happen to be spouses, that partition is prohibited except by written agreement.

Insight into the legislative intent of this 2009 amendment to the statute is contained in the description of this legislation found in Chapter 517 of the 2009 General Laws of Mississippi, which gives the history of the amendment to § 11-23-1. The description of this legislation found

at the beginning of Chapter 517 of the General Laws of Mississippi is "Partition; not available for homestead property between spouses." A copy of Chapter 517 of the 2009 General Laws of Mississippi is attached as Appendix "A" to this Brief. This description of this legislation makes clear the intent of the amendment as applying when the partition litigation is *between* spouses, and not when two Defendants in the litigation happen to be married.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly held that "The rule is well established by the judiciary in this country that where there is ambiguity in a statute under consideration, the title to the act may be resorted to as an aid to ascertain the legislative intent." *Aikerson v. State*, 274 So.2d 124, 128 (Miss. 1973); *Giles v. Friendly Finance Company of Biloxi*, 185 So.2d 659, 662, (Miss. 1966). The Supreme Court in *Bellew v. Dedeaux*, 126 So.2d 249, 251 (Miss. 1961) held that "if there is any uncertainty in the body of an act, the title may be resorted to for the purpose of ascertaining legislative intent and of relieving the ambiguity." The Mississippi Supreme Court in *Bailey v. Montgomery Ward & Co.*, 76 So.2d 813, 816 (Miss. 1955), held that:

It is well-established that the headlines or lead lines in the statewide privilege tax act constitute a part of the statute and are not ordinary titles.

Both the plain reading of this statute and the analysis of its ambiguity, if any, lead to the conclusion that the trial Judge was in error in not ruling that the prohibition of partition by agreement applies only with the litigation is *between* spouses.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set out above, this Court should render a decision reversing the ruling of the Chancellor prohibiting the partition of the land in this case, and remanding the case to the lower Court for further proceedings pursuant to Lockhart's Compliant For Partition.