IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2010-TS-01705

BETTY LOCKHART

APPELLANT

VS.

RICHARD COLLINS, ET AL.

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

MARTHA BOST STEGALL
MS BAR NO
MITCHELL, MCNUTT & SAMS, P.A.
105 SOUTH FRONT ST.
P. O. BOX 7120
TUPELO, MS 38802
(662) 842-3871

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons might have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

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

Lockhart's appeal pertains only to the applicability *vel non* of §11-21-1 in a situation where those with homestead interest are not the plaintiff and defendant, but instead are codefendants in joint opposition to partition requested by another.

The trial court correctly held that, where parties in interest do not agree to partition in accordance with §11-21-1, her authority to decree partition at the request of those otherwise with standing to seek partition does not exist where the property at issue is homesteaded, regardless of whether partition is requested by one spouse against the other, or by one person against a married couple that homesteads the property.

Additionally, the trial court correctly held that partition of the Subject Property by sale is not warranted.

Lastly, in order to have standing to seek partition that affects more than possessory interests, the party seeking partition must herself have an indefeasible fee interest (either in her own right or through joinder of remaindermen in her request for partition). Where partition by sale is pursued, the party must show that partition in kind is not feasible, or that partition by sale will better promote the parties' interests. Not only is Lockhart without an indefeasible fee interest necessary to affect the non-possessory interests of Defendants Richard and Peggy Collins (which must be affected for a sale to occur), she made no effort to show that partition in kind was not feasible or that sale would better promote the parties' interests.

⁶ Defendants have never disputed that Lockhart could have the property partited in kind, resorting to filing a petition in court to obtain such and naming the Hamiltons as Defendants had she unsuccessfully requested the Hamiltons to reach an agreement with her over how to partite their respective possessory interests between a 40-acre section and a 120-acre section. Of course, the Collins, as remaindermen, would not be proper parties to a possessory proceeding to partite the possessory interests of Lockhart and the Hamiltons.

Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted that trial court correctly ruled in dismissing Lockhart's Complaint for partition because homesteaders of the property are in opposition and partition by sale is not warranted. It is also respectfully submitted that Lockhart, holder of a life estate only, had no standing to seek partition by sale.

Questions of a party's standing and of statutory construction are subject to de novo standard of review. See, Gartrell v. Gartrell, 27 So.3d 388 (Miss. 2009)(de novo review of question of standing); Loveless v. City of Booneville, 972 So.2d 723 (Miss.App. 2007)(de novo review of statutory construction). Chancery court findings on factual matters, e.g., that partition by sale of particular property is not warranted, are subject to manifest error standard of review. Georgian v. Harrington, 990 So.2d 813 (Miss. App. 2008) (standard of review for chancellor's findings is manifest error).

III. ARGUMENT

A. Lockhart, as Holder of a Life Estate in an Undivided ¼ interest, Had No Standing to Seek Partition by Sale Affecting Interests of Remaindermen

Miss. Code Ann. §11-21-3, pertaining to partition by court decree, states as follows:

Partition of land held by joint tenants, tenants in common, or coparceners having an estate in possession or a right of possession and *not in reversion or remainder*, whether the joint interest be in the freehold or in a term of years not less than five (5) years, may be made by judgment of the chancery court of that county in which the lands or some part thereof, are situated; or, if the lands be held by devise or descent, the division may be ordered by the chancery court of the county in which the will was probated or letters of administration granted, although none of the lands be in that county.

However, any person owning an *indefeasible fee simple title* to an undivided interest in land may procure a partition of said land and have the interest of such person set apart in fee simple free from the claims of life or other tenants, remaindermen or reversioners, provided the life or other tenants, and other known living persons having an interest in the land, are made defendants if they do not join in the proceeding as plaintiffs.

(emphasis added).

The first paragraph of the statute has remained essentially the same since it was first enacted in 1857. See, Ch. 35, Art. 48 (Miss. Code of 1857); Ch. 26, Art. 1 §1809 (Miss. Code of 1809; Ch. 71, §2553 (Miss. Code of 1880); §3097 (Miss. Code of 1892); Ch. 103, §3521 (Miss. Code of 1906); §2833 (Hemingway's Code of 1917); Ch. 55, §2920 (Miss. Code of 1930); Ch. 4, §961 (Miss. Code of 1942). The second paragraph of §11-21-3 was added by statutory amendment in 1946. Until the second paragraph was added by amendment, partition was only be a possessory proceeding; it could not affect the rights of non-possessory remaindermen [such as Defendants Richard and Peggy Collins] or reversioners. As stated in Hemphill v. Mississippi State Hwy. Comm., 145 So.2d 455, 461 (Miss. 1962), "Prior to the 1946 amendment, partition was a possessory proceeding only, and the court could not adjudicate rights of owners of future interest." (citing Lynch v. Lynch, 196, Miss. 276, 17 So.2d 195 (1944); see e.g., Lawson v. Bonner, infra; Black v. Washington, 3 So. 140 (1887)(absence of unknown remaindermen, or fact that defendant had life estate in ¼ undivided interest, "is not a bar to partition among those having an interest in possession.")

i. Partition affecting non-possessory interests is unavailable to Lockhart

As a result of the 1946 amendment adding the second paragraph, now those with indefeasible fee simple title may seek partition that affects the interests of remaindermen. This is what Lockhart was improperly attempting to do with the Collins' remainder interest. However, having only a life estate in an undivided ¼ interest, Lockhart has no standing to affect by partition the interests of remaindermen. Instead, as shown below, she would only have standing to seek partition in kind as to those parties holding life estates. Because Lockhart's Complaint sought only partition by sale, affecting the interest of the remaindermen, the trial court's order

dismissing the Complaint and denying her post-trial motion to alter or amend the judgment should be affirmed.⁷

ii. Lockhart is without standing to seek partition of anything more than possessory interests

Because Lockhart does not have an indefeasible fee simple title, she may only pursue partition to the extent permitted by the first paragraph of §11-21-3, which expressly affords the right of partition only to (1) joint tenants, (2) tenants in common, or (3) coparceners with possessory interests, but not when reversionary or remainder interests exist, as they exist in this appeal.

A joint tenant, by definition, is one of two or more persons having "one and the same interest, accruing by one and the same conveyance, commencing at one and the same time, and held by one and the same undivided possession." See, Black's Law Dictionary; see also, Wilder v. Currie, infra. Coparceners are those whose interest arises as an heir by descent from the same ancestor. See, Black's Law Dictionary. Clearly, Lockhart is neither a joint tenant nor a coparcener. Therefore, to have a right of partition, Lockhart must be a tenant in common. As shown below, she is not a tenant in common with all Defendants.

According to Wilder v. Currie, 95 So.2d 563, 567 (Miss. 1957), "Tenants in common are united only by their right to possession of the property." Pursuant to this definition, Lockhart is a tenant in common with Bolin and Orene Hamilton, as they all have a right to possession of the property, but is not a tenant in common with the remaindermen, Richard and Peggy Collins. Stated differently, as holders of life estates in an undivided ¼ interest and undivided ¾ interest,

⁷ Lockhart requests this court to "render a decision reversing the ruling of the Chancellor prohibiting the partition of the land in this case, and remanding the case to the lower court for further proceedings pursuant to Lockhart's Complaint for Partition." (See, Brief of Appellant, p. 11, emphasis added). Even if this Court were to rule that §11-21-1 applies only where the spouses whose homestead interest will be affected are Plaintiff and Defendant, remand to the lower court in this appeal is improper in light of Lockhart's lack of standing to seek the relief of partition by sale requested in her Complaint.

respectively, Lockhart and the Hamiltons are the only persons who have a right to possession of the Subject Property. Defendants Richard and Peggy Collins, as remaindermen of both Lockhart's and the Hamiltons' life estates, do not presently have the right of possession and are not joint tenants, tenants in common, or coparceners.

The case of *Belew v. Jones*, 56 Miss. 341 (1897), reversed a ruling granting partition by sale between two parties, one having only a life estate *pur autre vie*, and the other having the remainder interest to the life estate, and fee simple title to the remaining interest. In rejecting partition by sale, this Court held as follows:

In this case, there is neither unity of title or possession between Mrs. Jones and Belew. The latter has a freehold estate, per autre vie, in a part of lot 85, which is separated and distinguished from the residue of the lot by metes and measures. His possession is separate and exclusive. Mrs. Jones has a fee-simple estate in so much of the lot, and exclusive possession, as is not embraced in the life-estate. She may have a reversion after the termination of the life estate, -- a reversion to that part of the lot covered by that estate; but the remedy of the statute is expressly denied to those who hold in remainder or reversion. ** * The statute . . . denies [partition] as to any part of the premises, because [Mrs. Jones] is not a tenant in common, or joint tenant, or any part of it, either with Belew or any other person. [cit.omit.] The test of the right to a sale is, whether the parties could have partition of a particular tract.

Id. at 345 (emphasis added). While the person seeking partition by sale was the one who held fee simple title in a portion of property and remainder interest in the rest, there does not appear to be any logical reason for the outcome to have been different had the person seeking partition by sale been the holder of only a life estate.

The case of Lawson v. Bonner, 40 So. 488 (Miss. 1906), analyzed a claim for partition under §3097 of the 1892 Code, which was identical to the first paragraph of §11-21-3 and, therefore, determinative of whether Plaintiff has standing to pursue the relief for partition by sale that she requested in her Complaint for Partition. In this case, as the result of the terms of their sister's will, Bonner held fee simple title in an undivided ½ interest in certain property, and

Lawson held a life estate in the remaining undivided ½ interest, the remainder left to the children of the testatrix's two brothers. Bonner filed a complaint for partition, naming as Defendants Lawson and the children of the two brothers.

An award of partition in kind was reversed on appeal, the Supreme Court stating as follows:

Our statutes (Rev. Code 1892, § 3097 et seq.) make it plainly improper to partition any rights in reversion or remainder, or to make reversioners or remaindermen parties to any partition proceeding. The writ and all the proceedings are possessory purely. It was, therefore, manifest error for the court to attempt to deal in any way with the rights of the children of Charles and Richard Lawson. The extent of its power was to have partitioned the land on the west side of the road between Emily Lawson and Laura Bonner, leaving a new partition to be made at the death of the life tenant, Emily Lawson. Our decisions on our statutes have made all this exceedingly plain.

* * * We cite no authorities, for the reason that all our own authorities, and the authorities elsewhere, pertinent to the subject-matter have been most discriminatingly collected and analyzed in the very able brief of the learned counsel for the appellant, which we direct to be printed in full.

40 So. at 490. The authority of the appellant adopted by the Court in its opinion was as follows:

A partition proceeding is purely a possessory action. The joint possession or the right of possession is the basis of the suit, and there can only be a partition of the land between those persons who have either a joint possession or joint right of possession, and further than this common joint estate the remedy cannot be extended. It does not follow that, because there is a remainder or reversion in land, there cannot be a partition, nor is it essential that the interest of all co-tenants be equal; but in such a proceeding the court will not deal with the fee simple, but will partition only the joint possession, or, in other words, the common estate, being that interest in the land in which there is a co-tenancy. Black v. Washington, 65 Miss. 60, 3 South. 140; Cooper v. Fox, 67 Miss. 242, 7 South. 342; [others cits. omit]

Id. (emphasis added)

⁸ Again, this statement re: partition being a possessory proceeding only remains true to those seeking partition under the first paragraph of §11-21-3, as Lockhart must since she does have the indefeasible fee title necessary to proceed under the second paragraph.

That Lockhart had no standing to seek partition by sale, which necessarily would divest the remaindermen of their remainder interest, is further supported by Miss. Code Ann. §11-21-5, which states in pertinent part as follows:

Any of the parties in interest, whether infants or adults, may institute proceedings for the partition of lands or for a partition sale thereof, by judgment of court as herein provided. All persons in interest must be made parties except (a) in cases where a part of the freehold is owned by persons owning a life estate therein or a life tenancy therein subject to the rights of remaindermen or reversioners, then, in such event, it shall only be necessary that the person or persons owning or claiming a life estate or life tenancy therein be made parties

Should she ever choose to do so, Lockhart would have standing against only the Hamiltons to seek an order determining to which 40 (or ¼) acres of the 160 acres to which her life estate applies (in the unlikely event she is interested in partition in kind and, if she is, she is unable to reach an agreement with the Hamiltons). She had no standing to seek more than partition of the possessory interests of herself and the Hamiltons. Because she does not have an indefeasible fee simple title, she has no standing and cannot proceed under the second paragraph of §11-21-3, which is the only avenue of partition available when the rights of remaindermen will be affected. Therefore, her claim for partition by sale as to all interests, including the remainder interests of Richard and Peggy Collins, is plainly improper.

B. Even if Lockhart had had standing to seek partition of the Subject Property by sale, she made no allegation that partition by sale was warranted, and does not argue that the trial court was manifestly in error in finding that it was not.

Miss. Code Ann. §11-21-11 permits partition by sale where sale "will better promote the interest of *all* parties than a partition in kind, or if the court be satisfied that an equal division cannot be made" (emphasis added). Mississippi jurisprudence holds that partition in kind

is the preferred method of partition. *Georgian v. Harrington*, 990 So.2d at 816. The proof necessary to be granted partition by sale has been stated as follows:

"Affirmative proof of at least one of these statutory requirements [§11-21-11] must affirmatively appear in the record in order for the court to decree a partition by sale." [quoting Blair v. Blair, 601 So.2d 848, 850 (Miss. 1992)] "Further, the chancellor has no authority to decree a sale unless the statutory requisites are 'clearly' met and a 'substantial reason' exists for choosing partition by sale over partition in kind." Blair, 601 So.2d at 850 (citing Shorter v. Lesser, 98 Miss. 706, 712, 54 So. 155, 156 (1911)). The joint owner seeking a partition sale has the burden of proving that the land is not susceptible to partition in kind and that a sale is the only feasible method of division. Overstreet v. Overstreet, 692 So.2d 88, 90-91 (Miss. 1997)

See also, Shaw v. Shaw, 603 So.2d 287 (Miss. 1992)(where the right of partition exists, it will be in kind and not by sale unless the one seeking partition presents substantial proof that sale would better promote interests of parties or that equal partition in kind is impracticable).

The preference for partition in kind over partition by sale was addressed at length in *Mathis v. Quick*, 271 So.2d 924 (Miss. 1973), as follows:

In the case of *Dailey v. Houston*, 246 Miss. 667, 151 So.2d 919 (1963) this Court held that where one seeks partition by sale he must bring his case clearly within the statute. In that case there were four parties in interest. One of the parties (Mr. Dailey) owned sixty-nine percent (69%) of one parcel and eighty-four and one-half percent (84 1/2%) of another parcel. This Court said:

'Under these circumstances, it was error for the chancery court to order a partition of the land by sale, rather than in kind. Partition by sale may be had only if the sale of the land 'will better promote the interest of all parties than a partition in kind, or if the court be satisfied that an equal division cannot be made. . . ." 246 Miss. at 683, 151 So.2d at 926.

We then said:

'A partition in kind is preferred. The law looks with disfavor upon a sale of land for partition. A person seeking to have a sale must bring his case clearly within the statute. Partition by sale proceedings take from the owner of land his right to keep his freehold. (Citing cases).' 246 Miss. at 693, 151 So.2d at 926.

There is nothing in the record in the instant case to indicate that it would be to the best interest of all the parties to sell the property. One witness is of the opinion that the land cannot be equally divided, and another was of the opinion that '(I)t would be very difficult to divide this land and either of these parties to get an equal proportion or equal division of it.'

In the case of *Dailey v. Houston, supra*, this Court was careful to point out that no evidence was introduced to show that it would be to the best interest of all the parties to order a sale. We said:

'There was no evidence introduced on the issue of whether a partition by sale would come within these requirements. In the absence of evidence that a sale will better promote the interests of the parties or an equal division in kind cannot be made, a sale should not be ordered. (Citing cases).' 246 Miss. at 684, 151 So.2d at 927.

In the instant case the appellant has no home other than the land here involved. She does not want the land sold. The appellee requested the court in his original bill (in the alternative) to divide the property. Only two parties are interested in seventy-six (76) acres of land. The law permits the chancery court considerable flexibility in dividing the property between the parties in a partition suit. The court is not required to be exact in an equal division in kind, because the court may require owelty from one cotenant to another to adjust the interest of the parties. Section 966, Mississippi Code 1942 Annotated (Supp.1972).

In the case of *Carter v. Ford*, 241 Miss. 511, 130 So.2d 852 (1961) this Court cited *Cox v. Kyle*, 75 Miss. 667, 669-670, 23 So. 518, 519 (1898) and said that in that case:

"The common law gave the joint owners of land a right to have a partition in kind; and the right of selling the land, and dividing the proceeds, given by the statute, is an innovation upon the common law; and, as it takes away from the owner the right to keep his freehold in kind, it must be strictly pursued, and it must appear from the record that an equal division cannot be made, or that a sale of the land will better promote the interest of all parties than a partition in kind', citing authorities. There was no proof of the necessity or propriety of a sale, and the cause was reversed.' 241 Miss. at 516, 130 So.2d at 854.

Id. at 926-927 (emphasis added).

Assuming for purposes of this argument only that Lockhart had had standing to pursue partition by sale, she did not show that partition by sale would be in the parties' best interest or

that partition in kind was not feasible.⁹ On appeal, she has not argued that the trial court's finding that partition of the Subject Property by sale was not warranted. Accordingly, for this further reason, the trial court's dismissal of the Complaint seeking partition only by sale should be affirmed.

C. <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> §11-21-1 (Supp. 2010), by its terms, applies to any property owned by spouses that is homesteaded

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